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Plaintiff-Appellant, Samry Davis, Jr. (Davis), appeals his
conviction for possession of a firearm by a convicted felon in
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(1). Concl udi ng that the district
court properly denied his notion to suppress and that the evidence
is sufficient to sustain his conviction, we AFFIRM

| . BACKGROUND

In 1999, Stevie Charl ot began buying crack cocaine fromDavis

" Pursuant to 5TH QR R 47.5, the court has determ ned that
this opinion should not be published and is not precedent except
under the limted circunstances set forth in 5THCQR R 47.5. 4.



and his extended famly in Church Point, Louisiana. Charl ot
| ater began working as a paid informant for the Acadia Parish Drug
Task Force (APDTF). On Cctober 22, 2001, Charlot contacted an
APDTF narcotics i nvestigator, Agent Brian Hundl ey, and i nfornmed him
that Davis’s brother, Edward Col onb, was in possession of a |large
anount of crack cocai ne. Based on this information, the agents
pl anned to have Charl ot conduct a controlled drug transaction that
day at 847 Sout h Broadway, the hone of Davis’'s nother, Mary Col onb.

Agent Hundley and another APDTF agent took Charlot to a
secl uded area near the Col onb residence. The agents gave Charl ot
$50 to purchase the drugs and an audio transmitter that was then
hidden in a pack of cigarettes in Charlot’s sock. Char | ot
denonstrated that his pockets were enpty by turning them inside
out. Charlot and the agents agreed that, after the drug buy, they
woul d neet at a nearby church.

Charl ot exited the vehicle, and the agents observed hi m wal k
to the yard of the Col onb residence but a fence bl ocked their view
of his entrance into the house. After a few seconds, the agents
heard Mary Col onb’ s voice over the transmtter.

Charl ot asked to purchase $50 worth of crack (“score a 50"),
and Mary responded that he would have to wait because Edward was
not there. Although Mary patted down Charl ot, she did not di scover
the transmtter in the cigarette pack. Edward arrived, and the
agents heard his voice over the transmtter. Charlot paid Edward
$50 and left. Charlot net the agents as planned and gave themthe
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three rocks of crack and the transmtter.?

The agents then obtained a search warrant for the Col onb
resi dence and executed it that night. Davis, Mary, Mary’s husband,
and Davis's sister were at the hone when the agents executed the
search warrant. Davis was in a rear bedroom of the house. After
Agent Reginald Quidry escorted Davis fromthe bedroomto a sofa in
the living room other agents searched the house. Agent Hebert
found a 16-gauge Mossberg shotgun in a closet in the rear bedroom
Agent Cuidry asked Davis who owned the gun, and Davis adm tted that
it was his gun. He also admitted that his bedroom had the shot gun
in the closet.

In May 2002, Davis was charged by indictnent with severa
counts of trafficking in cocaine and one count of possession of a
firearmby a convicted felon. He pleaded not guilty and filed a
nmotion to suppress, contending that affiant had deliberately or
recklessly msled the issuing state judge. On August 16, the
magi strate judge conducted a hearing on the notion. On August 22,
the prosecutor sent aletter to defense counsel advising that Agent
Hundl ey had been m staken when he testified that the Colonb
residence was surrounded by a privacy fence; instead, it was
surrounded by a chain |ink fence.

On Septenber 11, the magi strate issued a report recommendi ng

that the notion to suppress be denied. On Cctober 15, Davis filed

! The APDTF paid Charlot for conducting this controlled drug
transacti on.



obj ections based primarily on Agent Hundl ey’ s m staken testinony
regarding the fence. As aresult of the objections, the nagistrate
j udge conducted a second evidentiary hearing to determ ne whet her
the mstaken testinony was material and whether it affected the
court’s credibility determnation. The magistrate i ssued a second
report recommendi ng denial of the notion to suppress, concl uding
that any errors were immterial and “innocent and easily
explained.” Over Davis’s objections, the district court adopted
the findings of the nagistrate and denied the notion to suppress.

Subsequently, Davis filed a notion to sever the instant charge
of possession of a firearmby a convicted felon fromthe renaining
five charges in the indictnent. Utimtely, the district court
granted the notion to sever. Davis was tried on the sole charge of
possession of a firearmby a convicted felon. After a jury found
him guilty, the district court inposed a 15-nonth sentence of
i nprisonnment. Davis appeals.

1. ANALYSIS

A Motion to Suppress

Davis argues that the district court erred in denying his
nmotion to suppress. “Qur review of a district court’s denial of a
nmotion to suppress evidence sei zed pursuant to awarrant islimted
to (1) whether the good-faith exception to the exclusionary rule
applies, and (2) whether the warrant was supported by probable

cause.” United States v. Alix, 86 F.3d 429, 435 (5th Gr. 1996).



W& need not address the probable cause inquiry if the good-faith
exception applies. Id.

Findings of fact are accepted unless clearly erroneous or
based on an incorrect view of the law. United States v. Randall,
887 F.2d 1262, 1265 (5th Cr. 1989). A clearly erroneous finding
is one that is not plausible in light of the record viewed in its
entirety. Anderson v. Cty of Bessener City, 470 U S. 564, 573-74
(1985).

Davi s asserts t hat Agent Hundl ey made mat eri al
m srepresentations regarding the informant’s reliability in his
affidavit in support of the search warrant. This Court will uphold
a police officer’s good-faith reliance on a warrant unless “the
i ssuing-judge was msled by information in an affidavit that the
af fi ant knew was fal se or woul d have known was fal se except for his
reckl ess disregard of the truth.” United States v. Mays, 466 F. 3d
335, 343 (5th Gir. 2006), cert. denied, 127 S.Ct. 1313 (2007)
(citation and internal quotation marks omtted).

Specifically, Davis asserts that Agent Hundley's affidavit
i ndi cates that he had past dealings with Charl ot that denonstrated
Charlot’s reliability. Davis states that this is belied by Agent
Hundl ey’ s subsequent testinony that this was the first tine he
worked with Charlot. As the governnent responds, although Hundl ey
testified that this transaction was the first tinme he had worked

wth Charlot, he had |earned through another officer about



Charlot’s reliability on other cases. Indeed, there was evidence
of Charlot’s work as an informant resulting in the sei zure of drugs
on ot her occasions. The district court did not clearly err in
finding no false statenents in the affidavit regarding Agent
Hundl ey’ s representation of Charlot’s reliability.

Davis also points to an affidavit and a tape-recorded
statenent nmade by Charlot in which he changed his story, claimng
that he did not buy any drugs at the Col onb residence. However,
the nmagistrate judge was fully aware of the <contradictory
statenents made by Charlot. The magistrate judge concluded that
Charlot’s notive for changing his statenent was “to keep his cover”
and “insure his safety.” The district court’s credibility
determ nations are quite plausible and thus not clearly erroneous.

Addi tionally, Davis contends that because the affidavit did
not provide that Charl ot was a convicted felon and a crack addi ct,
the affidavit did not provide probable cause. Davis has failed to
show that Agent Hundley' s statenents were false or that he had
reckl ess disregard for the truth. Thus, because Agent Hundl ey
acted in good faith, we need not reach the inquiry regarding
probabl e cause. Alix, 86 F.3d at 435. Nonetheless, we find that
t here was probabl e cause in light of the nonitored, controlled drug
transaction at the Colonb residence. Cf. Mays, 466 F.3d 343
(finding probabl e cause when i nformant had nmade control | ed buys at

the residence and officer independently corroborated information



provi ded by informant through audio surveillance). The district
court properly denied the notion to suppress.
B. Sufficiency of the Evidence

Davi s argues that the evidence is insufficient to sustain his
conviction for felon in possession of afirearm Davis admtted to
Agent Quidry that it was his gun found in his bedroomcloset at his
parents’ house. Nonetheless, Davis contends that his conviction
cannot be sustained on the basis of his uncorroborated confession.

The governnent asserts, and Davis has not disputed, that no
nmotion for a judgnent of acquittal was nmade. Thus, we review the
evidence only for a mani fest m scarriage of justice. United States
v. Avants, 367 F.3d 433, 449 (5th Gr. 2004). A mani f est
m scarriage of justice has been shown where the record is devoid of
evi dence pointing to guilt or contains evidence on a key el enent of
the offense that is so tenuous that a conviction woul d be shocki ng.
| d.

To obtain a conviction for felon in possession of a firearm
t he governnent nust prove that the defendant (1) has been convicted
of a felony; (2) possessed a firearmin or affecting interstate
comerce; and (3) knew that he was in possession of the firearm
United States v. Dancy, 861 F.2d 77, 81 (5th Cr. 1988). The only
el emrent Davis disputes is that he was i n possessi on of the shotgun.

Davis correctly argues that a defendant may not be convicted

based solely on his own uncorroborated confession. United States



V. Ybarra, 70 F.3d 362, 365 (5th Gr. 1995). Nonetheless, “[t]he
corroborative evidence al one need not prove the defendant’s guilt
beyond a reasonabl e doubt, nor even by a preponderance, as |ong as
there i s substantial i ndependent evi dence that the of fense has been
commtted, and the evidence as a whol e proves beyond a reasonabl e
doubt that the defendant is quilty.... [E]xtrinsic proof [is]
sufficient which nerely fortifies the truth of the confession

W t hout independently establishing the crinme charged.” | d.
(quoting United States v. Garth, 773 F.2d 1469, 1479 (5th CGr.
1985)) .

Here, the evidence shows that during the execution of the
search warrant the officers found Davis in a rear bedroom and the
shotgun was in the closet. Also, there was evidence that Davis
“use[d] the house as [his] own.” Such evidence fortifies Davis’'s
confession. W conclude that Davis has not shown that the record
is devoid of evidence pointing to guilt or contains evidence on a
key elenent of the offense that is so tenuous that a conviction
woul d be shocki ng.

The district court’s judgnent is AFFI RVED



